
Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

1973-1982 
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.62/SR.130

 
 

130th Plenary meeting 
 

Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of  
the Sea, Volume XIV (Summary Records, Plenary, General Committee, First and Third 

Committees, as well as Documents of the Conference, Resumed Ninth Session) 
 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



PLENARY MEETINGS

130th meeting
Monday, 28 July 1980, at 5.10 p.m.

President: Mr. H. S. AMERASINGHE

Organization of work

1. The PRESIDENT stressed the decisive nature of the second
part of the ninth session and expressed the hope that the Confer-
ence would reach agreement on the substance of the proposed
convention.
2. With regard to the recommendations adopted by the General
Committee concerning the organization of work, he said that the
first two weeks of the second part of the ninth session would be
devoted to negotiations on the outstanding issues in accordance
with whatever procedure proved best suited to the circumstances.
Parallel with those negotiations, discussions would continue in
closed plenary meetings on the general and final clauses and on
the preparatory commission. The general debate would open at
the beginning of the third week and speaking-time would be lim-
ited to 15 minutes. It was important that matters already settled
should not be brought up for further discussion. After the general
debate, the negotiating text would be revised for the third time.
3. At the present meeting, the Chairman of the Group of 77
would be making a statement, on behalf of the Group, on United
States legislation relating to the exploitation of the resources of
the international sea-bed area, which were the common heritage
of mankind.
4. He (the President) had held consultations with the Chairmen
of the three committees and with the Chairman of the Drafting
Committee on the organization of work. In order to accelerate
the negotiating process, delegations should be informed of the ar-
rangements made concerning the organization of work and the
negotiating framework. Negotiations on outstanding issues would
be conducted within ad hoc groups, while matters within the
competence of the First Committee would again be dealt with by
the working group of 21, which would have to identify those still
to be negotiated and decide on the best way of negotiating them.
Any group engaged in negotiations should communicate the
results periodically—twice a week—to himself and to the Chair-
man of the committee concerned. Such summaries would be of an
informal nature and would be intended both to keep himself and
the chairman abreast of developments and to help in coordinating
the work of the Conference.
5. The Drafting Committee had met from 9 to 27 June 1980
and the report would appear in document A/CONF.62/
L.57/Rev.l. Representations had been made concerning the in-
clusion in the second revision of the informal composite negotiat-
ing text (A/CONF.62/WP.10/Rev.2 and Corr.2-5) of certain
provisions relating, for instance, to the delimitation of the territo-
rial sea between States with opposite or adjacent coasts. The
groups of delegations concerned should examine the question and
inform both him and the chairman of the committee concerned
how the relevant negotiations were to be conducted.
6. Whatever decisions were eventually taken, the informal
composite negotiating text was, as its name indicated, a negotiat-
ing text and not a negotiated one. Its status was no different from
that of the preceding texts, so delegations which were not satis-
fied with the solutions set out in the second revision could pursue
the negotiations as they deemed fit. Similarly, the negotiations

relating to the final clauses would have to be pursued on what-
ever basis was deemed appropriate by the delegations concerned.
7. Early in the session, the Chairman of the group of legal ex-
perts on final clauses would be introducing a report on the nego-
tiations on the final clauses. If necessary, the Conference would
then decide how those negotiations should be pursued. It would
also have to consider the Argentine proposals concerning the set-
tlement of disputes. With regard to the general provisions, it
would continue to examine various proposals concerning the vio-
lation of rights and other issues listed in the President's report
(A/CONF.62/L.53 and Add. 1).' It would be able to study some
of the final clauses forthwith at closed plenary meetings, but
other issues would have to be left until later.
8. In conclusion, he requested the participants to endorse the
recommendations made by the General Committee.
9. Mr. KOZYREV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) con-
sidered that, in accordance with the practice followed hitherto,
those recommendations should be made in writing and distributed to
delegations in a Conference document. That procedure had always
proved satisfactory and he hoped it would be continued.
10. The PRESIDENT said that he would accede to the request
by the Soviet representative. In the meantime, he suggested that
participants should endorse the General Committee's recommen-
dations, on the understanding that they would be able to request
clarification on any given point once the text had been issued.

It was so decided.

Welcome to the Republic of Zimbabwe

11. Mr. KOROMA (Sierra Leone) said that the Heads of State
and Government of the member countries of the Organization of
African Unity (OAU) had, at their recent summit meeting, re-
quested the African group of States to sponsor the admission of
the Republic of Zimbabwe to the Conference on the Law of the
Sea. The African group was extremely proud to hail the acces-
sion of the Republic of Zimbabwe to independence and national
sovereignty, and to pay tribute to the sacrifices made by all who
had struggled to achieve their freedom. Zimbabwe's indepen-
dence showed that the position adopted by the African group
since the beginning of the Conference had been correct. It also
testified to the unceasing efforts by the Organization of African
Unity and all peace-loving countries to liberate the entire African
continent. Zimbabwe had now become the fiftieth State member
of the Organization of African Unity. Furthermore, representa-
tives of the Patriotic Front had consistently participated in the
preparation of the convention on the law of the sea. It was there-
fore an honour for his delegation to request all the States partici-
pating in the Conference to recognize the Republic of Zimbabwe
as a member of the Conference.
12. The PRESIDENT said that, in accordance with the relevant
General Assembly resolutions, Zimbabwe automatically became

1 See Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the
Law of the Sea, vol. XIII (United Nations publication, Sales No.
E.81.V.5).



Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

a participant since it had been admitted to membership of a spe-
cialized agency. On behalf of all participants, he welcomed the
delegation of Zimbabwe and expressed his conviction that that
country would make a useful contribution to the work of the
Conference.

Questions concerning unilateral legislation on the resources
of the sea-bed

13. Mr. WAPENYI (Uganda), speaking as Chairman of the
Group of 77, said that the Group's position on unilateral national
legislation or other action relating to the exploration and exploi-
tation of the sea-bed area beyond the limits of national jurisdic-
tion had been put on record on several previous occasions. The
Chairman of the Group had expressed the Group's views to the
Conference on 15 September 19782 and 19 March 1979.3 In addi-
tion, the Ministers of the States members of the Group, at their
meeting in New York, had adopted a resolution on that question
on 29 September 1979. The Group now reiterated its position as
contained in those statements and in that resolution.
14. The Group viewed with grave concern the recent enactment
of national legislation by the United States of America governing
the exploration and exploitation of the sea-bed area beyond the
limits of national jurisdiction. Such legislation was contrary to
international law and was therefore incapable of giving rise to
any rights whatsoever.
15. A comprehensive convention on the law of the sea was be-
ing negotiated in the interests of maintaining international peace
and security and promoting co-operation and mutual understand-
ing among nations. A regime for the sea-bed area beyond na-
tional jurisdiction, established by the international community
and based upon the principle that that area and its resources were
the common heritage of mankind, was central to those negotia-
tions. Any action taken outside the framework of the Conference
or the threat of such action was in breach of the principle of good
faith in the conduct of negotiations, was contrary to the proce-
dure of consensus contained in the gentleman's agreement, seri-
ously jeopardized the progress so far achieved at the Conference
and was prejudicial to the prospects for the early adoption of a
comprehensive convention.
16. The Group of 77 condemned that illegal assertion of rights
by the United States Government over the international area of
the sea-bed. It protested against the said legislation and urged all
Governments to do likewise. It called upon all Governments to
reject such legislation and not to recognize any activities which
that legislation purported to authorize. It further called upon all
Governments to refrain from similar action. It reserved the right
to take any other appropriate action to repudiate such legislation
and to safeguard the resources of the international sea-bed area,
which were the common heritage of mankind.4

17. Mr. RICHARDSON (United States of America) said that
the United States Government remained committed to pursuing
in good faith the goal of an early and successful outcome of the
Conference; it maintained the view that a convention on the law
of the sea was by far the best legal framework for conducting
deep sea-bed mining activities. The legislation on deep sea-bed
mining enacted by the United States was consistent with that ob-
jective and was expressly interim in nature. When a treaty en-
tered into force with respect to the United States, it would auto-
matically supersede the legislation. Moreover, the legislation
placed a moratorium on commercial mining until 1 January 1988;
that moratorium would allow ample time for the convention to
come into force.
18. The legislation in question had been enacted in order to
prevent a further decline or complete disintegration of the United

*lbid.. vol. IX (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.79.V.3),
109th meeting.

3 Ibid., vol. XI (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.80.V.6),
110th meeting.

' This statement was subsequently issued in extenso under symbol A/
CONF.62/100.

States deep sea-bed mining industry. If such a decline were to
occur, a decade or more would undoubtedly elapse before the
level of technology needed for commercial mining could be re-
gained. It was clearly in the common interest to keep the industry
alive. Unless technology continued to develop, it would be a
very long time before countries could reap the benefits they
sought from sea-bed mining under a convention.
19. He did not consider it useful to reopen the debate on the le-
gality of deep sea-bed mining under international law. The
United States position on the matter had already been stated on a
number of occasions: sea-bed mining beyond the limits of na-
tional jurisdiction remained free until it was regulated by an in-
ternational agreement in force. That position was shared by a
number of countries whose nationals were at present engaged in
developing deep sea-bed mining technology.
20. If the Conference achieved successful results, the practical
question of commercial mining outside the treaty regime would
not arise. His delegation would continue to direct all its energies
to ensuring the success of the Conference's efforts to extend the
rule of law over more than two thirds of the earth's surface. Its
negotiating objectives remained precisely as they had been prior
to the enactment of the legislation in question. It would support
provisions designed to encourage the early entry into force of a
convention which all States could ratify and which would ensure
the orderly management of the world's ocean resources for the
benfit of all mankind.5

21. Mr. SHERMAN (Liberia) endorsed the statement made by
the Chairman of the Group of 77 on the unilateral legislation en-
acted by the United States. At the present stage of the Confer-
ence's work, such action was contrary to the interests of the ne-
gotiations and could brin» to nought the progress so far achieved.
Action of that kind with respect to deep-sea mining beyond the
limits of national jurisdiction was contrary to the well-established
principles of the negotiations; it would adversely affect the
results of the Conference and might even prejudice the economic
interests of the international community.
22. In the spirit of the Declaration of Principles set forth in
General Assembly resolution 2749 (XXV), in accordance with
which the sea-bed and ocean floor, and the subsoil thereof, be-
yond the limits of national jurisdiction, and the resources which
they contained were the common heritage of mankind, the Afri-
can countries called upon all Governments to show the greatest
restraint and refrain from unilateral action that could prejudice
the successful outcome of the Conference. The African countries
continued to abide by the Organization of African Unity resolu-
tion declaring that the sea-bed and the ocean floor and their re-
sources beyond the limits of national jurisdiction were the com-
mon heritage of mankind.
23. Mr. SANTOS (Philippines), speaking on behalf of the
group of Asian States, expressed serious concern about the legis-
lation on deep-sea exploration and exploitation adopted by the
United States. He fully shared the views expressed on the subject
by the Chairman of the Group of 77. The United States Govern-
ment's enactment of tha1: legislation, which was contrary to the
Declaration of Principles, governing the Sea-Bed and the Ocean
Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction, adopted by the
General Assembly at its twenty-fifth session in 1970, was a de-
plorable step, since it would create an unfavourable atmosphere
for the smooth conduct of negotiations and the conclusion of the
convention.
24. Mr. BALLESTEROS (Uruguay) said that the Latin Ameri-
can States, on whose behalf he was speaking, were fully aware
of the need to ensure that the negotiations, which had now
reached a crucial stage, were not jeopardized by external interfer-
ence or pressure. Those States, which intended to continue to
participate in the negotiations and, as they had done hitherto,
fully to respect the principle of good faith, could not condone the
attitude of the United States of America. By enacting a law

5 This statement was subsequently issued in extenso under symbol A/
CONF.62/103.



130th meeting—28 July 1980

claiming to regulate deep-sea exploration and mining beyond the
limits of national jurisdiction, the United States Government had
violated the principle of consensus followed in the Conference
and had taken a step that was contrary to international law, under
which the sea-bed and the ocean floor, and the subsoil thereof,
beyond the limits of national jurisdiction and the resources of
that area, were the common heritage of mankind and, as such,
could be exploited only in accordance with an international
nSgime, and under no circumstances on a unilateral basis.
25. Mr. GOERNER (German Democratic Republic) said that
the States of Eastern Europe, on whose behalf he was speaking,
shared the deep concern of the great majority of participants in
the Conference about the adoption by the United States of legis-
lation on deep-sea mining. They unreservedly supported the state-
ment made by the Chairman of the Group of 77, who had de-
plored the adoption of that unilateral measure contrary to the
1970 Declaration of Principles, which provided that all activities
regarding the exploration and exploitation of the resources of the
sea-bed and the ocean floor, and the subsoil thereof, beyond the
limits of national jurisdiction, should be governed by the interna-
tional regime to be established. In the view of the group of East-
ern European States, no State, individual or legal entity could ac-
quire any rights over that area or its resources, in particular
through unilateral legislative measures.
26. It was also regrettable that that legislation had been enacted
at a time when the Conference was entering its final phase and
when, after many years of often difficult negotiations, compro-
mise solutions had been worked out, as was apparent from the
informal composite negotiating text, on the basis of which it
should be possible to draw up a convention consonant with the
legitimate interests of all political and social systems.
27. The group of Eastern European States would continue to
make an active contribution to the work of the Conference so that
the outstanding problems might be solved before the end of the
current session, despite the legislative measures which had been
taken unilaterally by certain States and which, if care was not
taken, could call in question the results obtained hitherto and
jeopardize the further conduct of negotiations.
28. Mr. ARIAS SCHREIBER (Peru), speaking on behalf of the
delegations of Colombia, Chile and Ecuador as well as his own
delegation, said that those delegations had transmitted to the
President of the Conference the text of the declaration made on
22 July 1980 by the general secretanat of the South Pacific Com-
mission concerning the adoption by the United States of legisla-
tion on deep-sea mining beyond the limits of national jurisdic-
tion. They had requested that the text should be distributed as a
Conference document (A/CONF.62/101).
29. Participants in the current session would therefore be aware
of the exact position of members of the South Pacific Commis-
sion concerning the United States decision, which was bound to
have serious consequences.
30. Mr. KOROMA (Sierra Leone) said that, by enacting legis-
lation which purported to regulate the exploration and exploita-
tion of the resources of the sea-bed and the ocean floor beyond
the limits of national jurisdiction, the United States had violated
the Declaration of Principles adopted on the subject by the Gen-
eral Assembly, and, in particular, the basic principle set forth in
that Declaration to the effect that the sea-bed and the ocean floor,
and the subsoil thereof, beyond the limits of national jurisdiction,
together with the resources of that area, were the common heri-
tage of mankind. Sierra Leone could not condone the fact that a
member of the international community had refused to comply
with a decision adopted by the great majority of States Members
of the United Nations and had decided to appropriate deep-sea
resources on the pretext that it had the necessary technology and
expertise. Furthermore, the attitude of the United States Govern-
ment, which, by enacting the above-mentioned legislation, at a
time when the Conference was entering its final phase, threat-
ened to nullify all the efforts made so far, gave rise to doubts
about the validity of any convention that might be drawn up un-
der pressure from any particular country.

31. Mr. JAGOTA (India) said that despite the concern voiced
by the Group of 77, in particular, as well as by the USSR, China
and a number of Scandinavian countries, and despite the state-
ments of the Ministers for Foreign Affairs of the States members
of the Group of 77, who on two occasions, in September 1979
and March 1980, had asserted that with regard to the exploration
and exploitation of the resources of the sea-bed and ocean floor
beyond the limits of national jurisdiction, any measure taken uni-
laterally by a State would have no validity in international law
and had appealed to all States to refrain from taking such mea-
sures and make every effort to ensure that the Conference was
brought to a speedy conclusion, the Government of the United
States had in June 1980 enacted legislation which purported to
govern the exploitation of the mineral resources of the sea-bed.
32. That act, which the United States was attempting to justify
by invoking the principle of the freedom of the high seas, was
contrary to international law, which provided that the resources
of the sea-bed and the ocean floor, beyond the limits of national
jurisdiction, were the common heritage of mankind and that they
could be explored and exploited only in accordance with the in-
ternational regime which the Conference was currently trying to
establish. It was also contrary to certain provisions of the second
revision of the informal composite negotiating text under which
the mineral resources of the sea-bed could be explored and ex-
ploited only under a contract with the International Sea-Bed Au-
thority; the United States legislation provided for the issue of ex-
ploration licenses as from 1 July 1981 and of exploitation permits
as from 1 January 1988, and it appeared that licensees would be
able to remove, process and sell 40 to 50 per cent of the re-
sources from their mining sites every year even before 1 January
1988.
33. Furthermore, the United States legislation provided for a
reciprocal understanding with other States which might enact
similar legislation and with which the United States Government
would conclude a separate convention if the Conference did not
succeed or if the convention adopted by the Conference was not
acceptable to it. Some States were now rumoured to be in the
process of enacting similar legislation; such unilateral legislation
was a source of serious concern and resentment to the Indian
Government.
34. If sea-bed mining outside the boundaries of national juris-
diction was to benefit mankind as a whole, it must be regulated
by the law of the sea being developed by the Conference with the
active participation of all countries, and not by legislation
adopted unilaterally by one country or another or by a small
group of countries. By creating a new category of countries,
namely, countries engaged in sea-bed mining, such legislation,
which was contrary to international law, would further divide the
members of the international community and would give rise to
many complications and a certain amount of confusion since it
would henceforth be necessary to distinguish between activities
governed by international law and mining regulated by domestic
legislation based on the principle of the freedom of the high seas.
In order to avoid that type of problem and reach a solution ac-
ceptable both to the industrialized States and to other States, it
was pointless to state that such unilateral legislation was provi-
sional or transitional. It was necessary to work actively for the
success of the Conference.
35. Mr. DREHER (Federal Republic of Germany) said that the
Parliament of his country had adopted a law designed to regulate
and control activities by its nationals on the sea-bed beyond the
limits of national jurisdiction He nevertheless wished to assure
participants that the legislation was in no way intended to disturb
the successful course of the current negotiations and that his
Government was as determined as ever to reach agreement on the
international sea-bed regime which, after its entry into force for
the Federal Republic of Germany, would supersede the national
legislation. An international regime based on the consensus of
the international community would, in the opinion of his Govern-
ment, be a far better solution than national legislation. However,
until a generally accepted international regime could take effect,
it seemed desirable and even necessary to have regulations under



Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

which the deep-sea mining industry could go ahead with explor-
atory activities in the interest of industrial progress and, in the
last analysis, for the benefit of the international community as a
whole. Furthermore, by forbidding all economic exploitation be-
fore 1988, the legislation adopted by the Federal Republic of
Germany left ample time for the Conference to put a generally
acceptable international regime into effect.
36. His delegation could not accept the contention that without
such an international regime any activity on the international sea-
bed by States or their nationals would be illegal. There was noth-
ing in international law which made such activities illegal if they
were undertaken with due regard to the rights of other States and
to existing international commitments.
37. In that connexion, the Declaration of Principles governing
the international sea-bed was essentially a policy statement which
had not brought about any change in international law or, in par-
ticular, in the legal regime of the high seas, to the effect that
States or their nationals were no longer allowed to exercise their
right of free access to the resources of the international sea-bed.
38. He fully associated himself with the views expressed by the
representative of the United States and was firmly convinced that
through common effort and mutual understanding on all sides
agreement could be reached on a generally acceptable regime
concerning the so-called "Area".
39. Mr. YU Peiwen (China) said that his Government was seri-
ously concerned about the legislation adopted by the United
States in June 1980 concerning the exploitation of the mineral re-
sources of the sea-bed and ocean floor beyond the limits of na-
tional jurisdiction. The adoption by the United States of a law
which was contrary to the Declaration of Principles governing
the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor, and the Subsoil Thereof, be-
yond the Limits of National Jurisdiction could well have serious
repercussions on the work of the Conference. His delegation nev-
ertheless hoped that all the participants would work actively to
solve the outstanding problems in order to reach rapid agree-
ment.
40. Mr. TORRAS DE LA LUZ (Cuba) said that his delegation
fully shared the views expressed by the Chairman of the Group
of 77, to which his country belonged, and by the representatives
of Sierra Leone and India. Contrary to what had been asserted by
the representative of the United States, the act adopted by the
United States Government went against the objectives pursued by
the Conference. Article 118 of the act in question provided for
the possibility of holding negotiations with countries which had
enacted similar legislation with a view to establishing a certain
amount of co-ordination and ultimately setting up a mini-
convention which would compete with the convention that the
participants in the Conference were trying to devise. Further-
more, it was apparent from the provisions of article 201, which
was aimed at preserving the rights of United States nationals en-
gaged in sea-bed mineral exploration and exploitation beyond the
limits of national jurisdiction, that when the convention entered
into force the United States enterprises would already have ob-
tained authorization to explore those resources and exploit them
commercially. The International Authority would thus be faced
with a fait accompli.
41. Whatever the real objectives of the United States Govern-
ment might be, there could be no doubt that the signing of the in-
ternational convention was not at all in the interests of the large
monopolies. Given that state of affairs, it was absolutely essen-
tial that all countries, and particularly the developing countries,
should redouble their efforts to ensure the speedy adoption of the
Convention.
42. Mr. KIM CHUNG (Viet Nam) said that his delegation
wholeheartedly endorsed the statement made by the representa-
tive of Uganda on behalf of the Group of 77 concerning the leg-
islation unilaterally adopted by the United States. That legislation
constituted a flagrant violation of international law since it ran
counter to the principle set forth in the Declaration of Principles
contained in General Assembly resolution 2749 (XXV) under
which the Area and the resources it contained were the common

heritage of mankind and should be exploited in the interest of all
peoples and countries, and particularly the developing countries.
43. The act adopted unilaterally by the United States, together
with the informal working paper on the protection of investments
during the transition period which had been submitted by the
United States delegation on 2 April 1980 with a view to granting
exorbitant rights to the powerful United States companies,
clearly showed that the country's only concern was to defend its
selfish interests.
44. At the present stage of the work of the Conference, when
all delegations must redouble their efforts and display under-
standing in order to reach a universally acceptable agreement on
all the crucial outstanding questions, it would be utterly unac-
ceptable for some States to seek to renew their pressure on the
participants. The Major Power which was flouting the principle
of the sovereign equality of States and the principle of good faith
in international negotiations and was seeking to impose unaccept-
able solutions by resorting to threats and by confronting the inter-
national community with a fait accompli must abandon that prac-
tice which, in the last analysis, would only succeed in
jeopardizing the results Df many years of effort.
45. Mr. KOZYREV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) said
that the enactment by the United States of legislation contrary to
the Declaration of Principles governing the Sea-Bed and the
Ocean Floor beyond the Limits of National Jurisdiction and to
the decisions of principle adopted within the framework of the
text of the informal composite negotiating text could have unfortu-
nate consequences for the work of the Conference.
46. Not only had the United States failed to await the imple-
mentation of the convention before adopting an act governing the
exploration and exploitation of the mineral resources of the sea-
bed beyond the limits of national jurisdiction, but the United
States delegation also intended to take steps to ensure the adop-
tion of the proposals relating to the protection of investments
which it had submitted e.t the first part of the ninth session of the
Conference. It was true that there were no provisions in interna-
tional law prohibiting the exploitation of the mineral resources of
the sea-bed beyond the limits of national jurisdiction, but tradi-
tional practice required that for political and moral reasons coun-
tries should refrain from taking unilateral measures. The argu-
ment that commercial m.ning would not begin until 1988 was not
valid because by that time private enterprises would have devel-
oped their activities in that field to such an extent that it would
be difficult to impose international regulations. Moreover, the act
adopted unilaterally by >:he United States might encourage other
countries to follow suit and open the way for exploitation of
the sea-bed in a manner contrary to the general interest. His
country therefore ful ly shared the concern expressed by the
Chairman of the Group of 77 and by representatives of a number
of countries, and undertook to renew its efforts to ensure that, in
spite of the additional difficulties created by the United States de-
cision, it would be possible to reach a consensus and devise an
instrument for the equitable settlement of all problems relating to
the exploration and explDilation of the resources of the sea-bed.
47. Mr. BEESLEY (Canada) said that, in the opinion of his
delegation, the legislation enacted by the United States was un-
necessary, unjustifiable and untimely. It ran counter to the con-
cept of the "common heritage of mankind" and constituted a vi-
olation of the Conference's fundamental principle of consensus.
His delegation considered that the arguments put forward to jus-
tify the enactment of the legislation were not valid and it failed to
understand the underlying reasons which had prompted the
United States to take such a decision at a time when the Confer-
ence was entering the final phase of its work. It shared the con-
cern expressed by the great majority of delegations represented at
the Conference, in particular with regard to articles 118, 201,
202 and 203 of the United States act. Particularly questionable,
in its opinion, was the fact that participants were apparently be-
ing told what course to follow in relation to a number of ques-
tions, such as the protection of investments. There was certainly
a better method, to which the United States delegation itself had



130th meeting—28 July 1980

always tried to conform, and that consisted in negotiating in
good faith in order to reach an equitable compromise. That was
what participants must continue to do without prejudging the
results of the Conference. His delegation associated itself with
the appeal that other countries should not follow the example of
the United States and should refrain from adopting unilateral leg-
islation on a number of questions which could be resolved only
by negotiation.

The meeting was suspended at 6.5u p.m. and resumed at 7.05
p.m.

48. Mr. EL FATTAL (Syrian Arab Republic) said that he
shared the views firmly expressed by the Chairman of the Group
of 77 concerning the unilateral legislation enacted by the United
States. That legislation seemed to him to be contrary to the ob-
jectives and principles of the Conference. He was surprised that
the representative of the United States had spoken of "good
faith". Could a super-Power be acting in good faith when it im-
posed unilateral legislation on the international community,
claiming that such legislation was only transitional? By so doing,
the United States was subjecting the participants to pressure
which he, for his part, considered unacceptable as it jeopardized
the successful conduct of negotiations and might prevent the ob-
jective of consensus from being attained. The United States Gov-
ernment promised that when an international agreement was con-
cluded it would supersede national legislation, but from the
moment profits accrued to the transnational or United States
companies exploiting the resources of the sea-bed, there was
every reason to believe that the United States would not renounce
that legislation and that the so-called interim provisions which
had just been adopted would become permanent. The United
States was, in fact, placing its own interests before those of the
great majority of other countries, a procedure which, in his view,
was totally unacceptable.
49. The United States representative had said that the purpose
of the recently enacted legislation was to avert a decline in the
deep-sea mining industry. However, it would not be logical for
other countries to become dependent on United States technology
and, if the legislation was implemented, the developing countries
would be the first to suffer.
50. Mr. POWELL-JONES (United Kingdom) felt obliged to place
on record that the views of the Government of the United
Kingdom on deep sea-bed mining which had been stated on ear-
lier occasions had not changed. The United Kingdom did not
consider legislation on deep sea-bed mining to be contrary to in-
ternational law. That said, his delegation remained fully commit-
ted to the achievement of a generally acceptable convention on
the law of the sea and hoped that the remaining negotiations
would be completed successfully in accordance with the Confer-
ence timetable. He greatly hoped that delegates would not allow
differing opinions on the question that had been raised to divert
the Conference from the work in hand.
51. Mr. DE LACHARRIERE (France) said that, in his delega-
tion's opinion, unilateral legislation on the exploration and ex-
ploitation of the sea-bed beyond national jurisdiction was not in
itself contrary to existing international law and that there was
nothing in contemporary international law to prohibit France
from adopting legislation providing for the reasonable u.se of the
sea-bed. However, the French Government considered that such
national legislation constituted a last resort as compared with a
satisfactory universal convention and that the best way for the
Conference to react to unilateral legislation was to draft such a
convention as speedily as possible.
52. Mr. NAKAGAWA (Japan) said that the legislation enacted
by the United States Congress was of an interim nature and that
its aim was to prepare national enterprises to exploit the re-
sources of the sea-bed until such time as the convention on the
law of the sea came into force. The legislation expressly pro-
vided that such exploitation was not to begin before 1 January
1988 and by that time the convention should have come into
force.
53. His delegation shared the views expressed by the delega-

tions of the United States, the Federal Republic of Germany, the
United Kingdom and France, and considered that the problem of
the lawfulness of what was called unilateral national legislation
with regard to current international law did not arise in the case
of the act adopted by the United States. It was convinced that
that question should not delay negotiations during the current
session and that all delegations would confine their efforts aimed
at the speedy adoption of a convention on the law of the sea.
54. Mr. HAMOUD (Iraq) said that the arguments adduced by
the delegation of the United States were far from convincing. In
his opinion, the legislation enacted by the United States consti-
tuted a dangerous violation of the rules of international law. He
found it curious that the legislation had been enacted at a time
when the Conference was about to reach compromises on prob-
lems that had been considered insoluble.
55. The only explanation he found was that the United States
had wanted to be of service to the monopolies rather than to
work in the interest of mankind as a whole. All those who had
fought against imperialism and colonialism could therefore only
associate themselves with the protests which had been aroused by
the adoption of national legislation contrary to international law.
56. Mr. VARVESI (Italy) reminded the Conference of his dele-
gation's view that at the current stage of international law there
was no provision which prohibited exploration and exploitation
activities on the sea-bed, particularly if they were envisaged
within the context of rules which took account of the work of the
Conference. Nonetheless, his delegation continued to believe that
agreement must be reached on a universal convention which
could render superfluous the adoption, and in any event, the im-
plementation of unilateral legislation.
57. The PRESIDENT said that, when the question of the possi-
ble enactment by the United States of unilateral legislation had
first arisen, he had stated that there were limits to the patience of
Governments and that participants should therefore try to reach
agreement on a universally acceptable treaty in the shortest possi-
ble time. Considering that he was not called upon to state his
views on the legal aspects and implications of such legislation,
he had merely referred to the psychological effect it might have
on the work of the Conference. The enactment of such legislation
by the United States had given rise to serious doubts about the
possibility that the Convention might be adopted by consensus.
He sincerely hoped that such doubts would prove to be ground-
less. The chances of adopting by consensus a convention which
could be ratified by all countries must be preserved, as must the
hope of creating a stable and lasting legal order for the oceans
which would make it possible to advance towards the establish-
ment of a new international social, political and economic order
based on justice and equity. In no circumstances should the
results so far achieved be jeopardized if the Conference was to
complete its work at the current session. In that connexion, it
was encouraging to note that the United States representative had
given an assurance that his delegation was determined to con-
tinue to negotiate in good faith in order to arrive at a consensus.
He also noted with great satisfaction that even the delegations
which were dismayed at the measures taken by the United States
were still determined to pursue the efforts they were making to
the same end.
58. Mr. OMAR (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya) said that although
the question of unilateral legislation concerning the exploration
and exploitation of the sea-bed beyond the limits of national ju-
risdiction had been raised on a number of occasions in this Con-
ference, the reaction thereto had never gone beyond the halls of
the Conference. The delegation of the People's Socialist Libyan Ja-
mahiriya suggests, therefore, that the Conference issue a state-
ment denouncing the legislation enacted by the United States
concerning the exploration and exploitation of the sea-bed be-
yond the limits of national jurisdiction, demanding that it should
freeze that legislation or refrain from implementing it until the
Conference was able to approve the convention. The statement
should also call upon the States not to follow the United States
footsteps in enacting such legislation.



Resumed Ninth Session—Plenary Meetings

Organization of work

59. Mr. HAYES (Ireland) read out a letter addressed to the
President of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of
the Sea on 30 May 1980 by the representatives of the following
countries, which had sponsored document NG7/10: Algeria, Ar-
gentina, Bangladesh, Benin, Burundi, Congo, France, Iraq, Ire-
land, Ivory Coast, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar,
Maldives, Mali, Mauritania. Morocco, Nicaragua, Pakistan, Pap-
ua New Guinea, Poland, Romania, Senegal, Somalia, Suri-
name, Syria, Turkey, Venezuela and Viet Nam.6 The text of the let-
ter was as follows:

"1. The undersigned sponsors of document NG7/10 wish
to state that they cannot accept the formulations of paragraph 1
of articles 74 and 83 as they appear in the second revision of
the informal composite negotiating text (A/CONF.62/WP.10/
Rev.2 and Corr. 2 to 5).

"2. In accordance with paragraph 10 of document A/
CONF.62/62 of 14 April 1978,7 any modifications or revisions
to be made in the informal composite negotiating text should
'emerge from the negotiations themselves' and 'not be intro-
duced on the initiative of any single person, whether it be the
President or a Chairman of a committee, unless presented to
the Plenary and found, from the widespread and substantial
support prevailing in Plenary, to offer a substantially improved
prospect of a consensus'.

"3. The sponsors of document NG7/10 submit that in car-
rying through the revisions of paragraph 1 of articles 74 and
83, the Presidential team (Collegium) has not given adequate
attention to the above-mentioned conditions.

"4. It is the view of the sponsors of document NG7/10
that the new formulations as they appear in paragraph 1 of ar-
ticles 74 and 83 'did not emerge from negotiations themselves'
nor did those formulations receive 'the widespread and sub-
stantial support required in plenary to offer a substantially im-
proved prospect of consensus'.

"5. The formulations as they appear in paragraph 1 of ar-
ticles 74 and 83 were not considered in negotiating group 7
nor were they submitted to the group of sponsors of document
NG7/10 and other supporting delegations in meetings with the
Chairman of negotiating group 7.

"6. Whereas in negotiating group 7 both interest groups
expressly indicated their willingness to negotiate on the basis
of the forrnulation of paragraph 1 of articles 74 and 83 in the
first revision of the informal composite negotiating text, the
group of sponsors of document NG7/10 specifically rejected in
the plenary debate the corresponding formulation now appear-
ing in the Second revision.

"7. Accordingly, the sponsors of document NG7/10 con-
sider that the new formulation of paragraph 1 of articles 74
and 83 will not be helpful to future negotiations. Far from
helping to achieve a consensus, the inclusion in the negotiating
text of the formula of the Chairman of negotiating group 7 will
only increase controversy and affect negatively the conclusion
of our work."

60. After reading out the letter, the representative of Ireland re-
called that, at the end of the first part of the session, it had been
agreed in the Second Committee that the report by the Chairman
of negotiating group 7 should be considered by that committee at
the resumed session. He considered that a discussion of that re-
port was necessary so that the work of the current session could
be successfully completed and the procedures to be adopted in
future could be examined.
61. The PRESIDENT said that he did not intend to authorize a
discussion of the amendments made by the Collegium. In his
opinion, delegations must negotiate on the basis of the texts
which they considered to be most consistent with their interests.

6 The full texk of this letter is reproduced at the request of the President
of the Conference.

7 Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law
of the Sea, vol.'X (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.79.V.4).

62. With regard to the letter read out by the representative of
Ireland, he said that, at the third session of the Conference, it
had been decided not to distribute the observations made by dele-
gations concerning informal texts. That letter could not therefore
be distributed as an official document of the Conference.

63. Mr. LACLETA MUNOZ (Spain) pointed out that negotiat-
ing group 7 had bten se': up by the plenary Conference in accord-
ance with the recommendations made in document A/CONF.62/
62 and that the matters which it was responsible for considering
did not all come within the competence of the Second Commit-
tee. He also noted that, although the report by the Chairman of
that negotiating group had been submitted to the Second Com-
mittee, it had been decided to refer the report to the plenary Con-
ference for consideration. As the sponsors of document NG7/2,
whom he represented, had not yet met, he was not in a position
to speak on their behalf; his delegation nevertheless considered
that that report should not be submitted for consideration by the
Second Committee, sirce that would be a retrograde step. His
delegation was, however, prepared to study, with the countries
most directly concerned, any proposal relating to the continua-
tion of work in an area which gave rise to some of the greatest
difficulties.

64. Mr. OMAR (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya) supported the view
expressed by the representative of Ireland concerning the report
by the Chairman of Negotiating Group 7. The report should be
considered by the Second Committee, of which negotiating
group 7 was a subsidiary body.

65. Mr. CHARRY SAMPER (Colombia) said that he shared
the view of the representative of Spain. He nevertheless wished
to pay tribute to the objectivity and neutrality of the Chairman of
negotiating group 7. With regard to the various amendments to
the negotiating text, he considered that, in order to avoid any
confusion, each new text should replace the previously existing
one and that it was therefore necessary to negotiate on the basis
of the revised version, regardless of the various opinions ex-
pressed. Of course, everyone must be able to state his point of
view, but it was the second revision of the text that must serve as
a basis for the negotiations.
66. The proposal by the representative of Ireland for the sub-
mission of the report of the chairman of negotiating group 7 to
the Second Committee was, in his opinion, not acceptable be-
cause, as the representative of Spain had said, the matters dealt
with by that Group were not all within that Committee's compe-
tence.

67. The PRESIDENT said that it was not the integrity of the
Chairman of the negotiating group that was in question, but
rather, the choice which the Collegium had seen fit to make con-
cerning the wording of paragraph 1 of articles 74 and 83 with a
view to reaching an agreement.
68. Mr. ATAIDE (Portugal) said that he wholeheartedly sup-
ported the view expressed by the representatives of Spain and
Colombia because he considered that the submission of the report
of the chairman of negotiating group 7 to the Second Committee
would seriously jeopardize the chances of arriving at a consensus
on the question of the delimitation of the maritime boundaries of
States with opposite or adjacent coasts.
69. Mr. USHEWOKUNZE (Zimbabwe) thanked the President
and delegations for the warm welcome they had given his coun-
try. There was no doubt that the Conference was dealing with
matters which were of vital importance to his country and to all
of mankind. Zimbabwe was a land-locked country and an impor-
tant third-world producer of minerals, and his Government there-
fore took a keen interest in questions relating to the exploitation
of the resources of the sea. He sincerely believed that those re-
sources were the common heritage of mankind and that they
should therefore be exploited in the interests of mankind as a
whole. He hoped that the position of the United States would be
condemned and that the work of the Conference would continue
in a genuine spirit of negotiation. He wholeheartedly supported
the statement made by the Chairman of the Group of 77.

The meeting rose at 7.55 p.m.


	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


